RECEIVED

Nov 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000788

Case No.: 2019-CP-10-01108

Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Library Associates, LLC; and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, a New York Corporation, Defendant

And

Library Associates, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT BALFOUR IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS UNDER THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.**
- II. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED A BREACH OF CONTRACT BY BALFOUR AND THAT LIBRARY HAD ESTABLISHED RECOVERABLE DAMAGES FOR SUCH A BREACH IN THE AMOUNT OF \$3,320,329.**
- III. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT LIBRARY (OR THE EVIDENCE) ESTABLISHED A BREACH OF CONTRACT ACCOMPANIED BY A FRAUDULENT ACT BY BALFOUR AND ERRED IN AWARDING LIBRARY JUDGMENT AND DAMAGES BASED ON THAT CAUSE OF ACTION.**
- IV. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT LIBRARY WAS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES FROM BALFOUR AND IN AWARDING LIBRARY \$10,000,000 IN PUNITIVE DAMAGES.**
- V. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS TO LIBRARY AS THE PREVAILING PARTY UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE IN THE AMOUNT OF \$2,127,592.**
- VI. **WHETHER THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT HE HAD THE AUTHORITY UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACT TO AWARD LIBRARY THE AMOUNT OF \$655,197 FOR THE WITNESS FEES AND COSTS FOR THE WORK OF ITS EXPERT WITNESS HADLEY.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation arises out of an attempt by Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC (“Balfour”) to recover millions of dollars it expended, and has not been paid, for the construction of Hotel Bennett in Charleston, South Carolina (the “Hotel”). Balfour performed the work and is entitled to the payment pursuant to its contract with the Hotel owner (the “Contract”), Library Associates, LLC (“Library”).

Specifically, Balfour sought to recover three elements of costs or damages to which it was entitled under the Contract. First, there were amounts owed in the normal course of performance under the Contract for the work performed and the costs incurred within the Guaranteed Maximum Price (“GMP”) of the Contract. These amounts were due from Library as progress payments under the Contract, but the payments were not made by Library in breach of its contract obligations. Second, there were additional amounts owed for work that resulted from changes imposed by Library to the scope and performance requirements of the Contract. These changes were identified by Balfour to Library and the project architect throughout the contract performance period, but Library did not execute appropriate change orders covering this work as provided in the Contract Documents. Executed change orders would have increased the GMP and documented Balfour’s entitlement to additional payment and extensions of the contract time. Third, there were amounts owed in connection with claims asserted by Balfour under the Disputes clause of the Contract Documents. In addition to Balfour’s causes of action arising under the Contract for these items, the case also involved Balfour’s attempt to recover these various amounts pursuant to its assertion of a lien under the South Carolina Mechanic’s Lien statute.

The Master erred in this case by failing to award Balfour the amounts owed for the work it performed. He failed to award Balfour the allowable costs it incurred in performing the work within the existing (as adjusted by executed change orders) GMP under the Contract. He also failed

to recognize and award the change order work performed by Balfour that would increase further the GMP and be recoverable. Finally, he failed to properly assess the claims submitted pursuant to the Disputes clause and to award the damages due to Balfour arising therefrom.

The Master also erred in awarding Library:

- a. liquidated damages for delays in completion of the work;
- b. damages for so-called non-conforming or incomplete work;
- c. punitive damages for a purported breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act;
- d. attorney's fees improperly awarded under the mechanic's lien statute; and
- e. the fees and costs of Library's expert witness under the Declaratory Judgment Act.

Each of these errors will be addressed in turn in the following arguments. However, for context, the significant contractual and factual background is summarized as follows.

Library contracted with Balfour, as the Construction Manager/General Contractor, to build the Hotel. (R-7311). The Contract required Library to provide the necessary plans and specifications to Balfour by which the Hotel could be constructed. (R-7313, § 1.1). Balfour was to be paid for constructing the Hotel according to the provided plans and specifications on the basis of the costs it incurred in accomplishing that construction, plus certain fees, subject to a GMP. (R-7321, § 5.2.1). Of course, the GMP could change as a result of change orders modifying or altering the scope of the work under the Contract (the "Work") and increasing the expected costs or time for construction. (R-7321, § 5.2.2).

The original Contract GMP was \$59,344,747; however, during the course of the performance of the construction of the Hotel (the "Project"), there were mutually agreed upon change orders (22 of these) between Balfour and Library. These change orders (sometimes referred to as Owner Change Orders or OCOs) increased the GMP to \$65,238,467.99. (R-7333, Ex. A,

§ A.1.1.1; R-7422, Balfour Ex. 226; R-5232, 4195:3-10). In addition to the agreed upon and settled OCOs, there were additional requested change orders (“RCOs”) submitted by Balfour and memorialized in each Application for Payment. These RCOs to which Balfour is entitled would result in further increases to the GMP, and the costs incurred in accomplishing the changes would be additional recoverable or allowable costs of the work. (R-6113, Balfour Ex. 12; R-5177–5178, 4141:2 – 4142:7; R-9554, Balfour Ex. 350). Finally, the last component of the litigation is Balfour’s attempt to recover costs it incurred because of such things as the interferences and delays experienced by Balfour on account of various acts and omissions by Library including defects in the design provided by Library. This last component of the litigation constitutes “Claims” by Balfour pursuant to the Contract. (R-7281, Gen’l Cond. § 4.3).

Pursuant to the Contract, Balfour was entitled to receive monthly progress payments. These progress payments were to be based upon an assessment of the percentage of completion of the work as described in Article 7 of the Contract. These progress payments were not to be based on audited costs. Generally, throughout the performance period, in accordance with the Contract’s terms, Library paid Balfour monthly progress payments as described. (R-7325, § 7.1). The Architect certified and Library, in fact, paid Balfour the first 42 applications for progress payments submitted by Balfour under the Contract, covering the time period from April 1, 2015, to September 30, 2018. (R-15415, Library Ex. 35). However, beginning with Balfour’s Application for (progress) Payment No. 43, covering the time period of October 1-31, 2018, Library failed and refused to make any additional payments. (R-23085, R-23230, R-23430, Library Exs. 141, 142, 143).

At the time Library failed and refused to make additional payments to Balfour, the approved and existing GMP was \$64,924,641.87, and the prior total of the payments made to Balfour was only \$59,994,390.35. (R-15415, Library Ex. 35). At that same time, Balfour had

already identified 150 additional RCOs, and given notice of them to Library and its Architect. (R-15419; R-6105–6112, Balfour Ex. 11). Although not being paid by Library, Balfour and its subcontractors, nonetheless, continued to prosecute the Work to completion. (R-7091–7161, Balfour Ex. 27). Due to Library’s failure and refusal to make payments, eventually Balfour and a number of its subcontractors exercised their rights to file mechanic’s liens against the Hotel property in order to secure their rights to payments as allowed by South Carolina law. (R-114–115). The foreclosures of those mechanic’s liens by Balfour and various subcontractors were additional issues in the litigation.

I. Project Background

A. Initial Designs and Development of the Hotel

Initially, the exterior of the Hotel was designed by the architectural firm Fairfax & Sammons. Fairfax & Sammons’s design was largely schematic and contained virtually no interior details. (R-9096, 50:6-16). After Fairfax & Sammons completed its initial work on the design of the proposed hotel, Library hired Goff D’Antonio, to provide more complete design services; however, Library subsequently terminated Goff D’Antonio. (R-9095, 47:22 – 49:14). Thereafter, Goff D’Antonio filed a mechanic’s lien against the Hotel property for \$435,000 in design services for which Library did not pay D’Antonio. (*Id.*). That claim was ultimately resolved for \$260,000. (*Id.*).

On January 29, 2014, Library finally entered into a contract with Winford Lindsay & Associates (“WLA” or “Architect”), to serve as the architect for the Project. (R-9093, 39:7-24; R-7170-7190, Balfour Ex. 46). Separately, Library also contracted with Jim Clements to serve as its Owner’s Representative. (R-7162–7169, Balfour Ex. 42).

B. Library / Balfour Contract

1. Contract GMP and Cost of the Work

The September 22, 2014, Contract between Balfour and Library included an original GMP of \$59,344,747.00. (R-7333, § A.1.1.1). The Contract defined the Cost of the Work as “costs necessarily incurred by [Balfour] in the proper performance of the Work.” (R-7322, § 6.1). Such costs included, among other things: (1) wages for construction workers employed by Balfour; (2) wages or salaries of Balfour’s supervisory and administrative personnel; (3) payments owed to subcontractors in accordance with the subcontract agreements; and (4) costs of materials and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated in the completed construction. (R-7322, § 6).

2. **Change Orders**

The Contract provided for increases to the GMP pursuant to executed change orders or construction change directives. (R-7321, § 5.3; R-7287, Gen’l Cond. § 7). Change Orders and Change Directives were to be prepared by the Architect and signed by Library, Balfour, and the Architect. (R-7288, Gen’l Cond. § 7.2; § 7.3.1). As stated earlier, there were a total of 22 agreed upon Change Orders prior to the litigation which increased the GMP from the original \$59,344,747.00 to \$65,238,467.99. (R-7422, Balfour Ex. 226; R-23430, Library Ex. 143; R-5232, 4195:3-10).

3. **Claims and Disputes**

The Contract recognizes that a Claim or a Dispute may arise between the parties during the Project. (R-7281). Section 4.3 of the General Conditions defines such Claims and Disputes and the process for resolution. (*Id.*). “A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, adjustment or interpretation of Contract terms, payment of money, extension of time or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract.” (R-7281–7282). A Claim “also includes other disputes and matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract.” (R-7281–7282, § 4.3.1). Section 4.3.1.1 of the General Conditions provides that the Contractor will attach to each Application for Payment a schedule of outstanding

and unresolved Claims and RCOs. (*Id.*) Library and the Architect shall then rely on the schedule as notice of the Contractor's claims. (*Id.*) Section 4.4.1 of the General Conditions then allows that claims and disputes shall be referred to the Architect for initial review and decision. (R-7283, § 4.4.1). Upon receipt of a claim, the Architect had ten (10) days to: (1) request additional supporting data; (2) reject the claim in whole or in part; (3) approve the claim; (4) suggest a compromise; or (5) advise the parties that the Architect was unable to resolve the claim. (*Id.*, § 4.4). The Architect was required to issue a written decision on all claims submitted by either party. (R-7284, § 4.4.5). Beginning in December 2015, each of Balfour's Applications for Payment had attached to it, including expressly as part of each conditional partial waiver and release of lien, a schedule that specifically identified the pending RCOs and Claims for which it was reserving its rights. (R-6105–6112, R-7393–7421; R-09778, R-16130, R-17639, Library Exs. 3, 82, 114). The Architect and Library had notice of these matters on at least a monthly basis.

4. Accounting and Library's Right to Audit

Under the Contract, Balfour kept records and accounts of the Cost of the Work. (R-7325, § 6.11.1).

The Contract provided Library the right to perform periodic examinations, audits, and verifications of Balfour's cost accounting records and the costs incurred in performing the Work. (R-7327, § 7.1.11). Balfour was obligated only to make its records available to Library for such examination after receiving reasonable advance notice from Library. (*Id.*) Balfour had no contractual obligation to audit, or to obtain an audit by a third-party, of the cost records or the actual costs.

II. The Project

A. Change Orders and Increases to the GMP

During the course of the Project, numerous and various circumstances arose which altered the scope of the work Balfour was required to perform. Such circumstances include decisions by Library to modify the work to be performed. Some were major decisions by Library to alter in substantial ways the nature and scope of the Project—such as a decision to convert the guest rooms on the sixth through eighth floors of the Hotel to luxury suites—and some changes were necessitated by a myriad of errors and omissions in the plans and specifications provided by Library. The executed bilateral OCOs (1-19) increased the GMP to \$64,924,641.87. (R-7422, Balfour Ex. 226). Furthermore, after the issuance of OCO 19, Balfour submitted additional RCOs, including RCOs 20, 21, and 22, and while Library failed to execute formal OCOs covering those RCOs 20, 21, and 22, its witnesses do not dispute them. (R-9049, Balfour Ex. 292; R-5232, 4195:3-10). As a result of the numerous change orders, including RCOs 20, 21 and 22, the adjusted GMP was increased to \$65,238,467.99. (R-9050).

At the time Library stopped paying Balfour, Library had paid Balfour only \$59,994,390.00 against the then existing GMP of \$64,895,381.83. (R-15416). Thus, a balance of \$4,900,991.83 remained under the existing GMP for payment to Balfour of the Cost of Work reflected in Balfour's progress payments applications to cover the existing, recognized scope of work (even before further increases due in connection with Balfour's outstanding RCOs and Claims). Library continued in its refusal to make additional payments to Balfour on this balance.

B. Delays and Disputes

The Project was initially intended to be complete within twenty-eight (28) months from the issuance of a Notice to Proceed. (R-7335). However, substantial completion of the Project was delayed for various reasons and causes including (i) a 1,000-year flood event (R-1767, 733:12–18); (ii) issues related to defective, incomplete and new designs provided by Library (R-1768–1778, 734:20–744:19; R-1790–1796, 756:21–762:25; R-1797–1805, 763:1–771:13); and (iii)

Library's failure to make timely design and materials selections. (R-1805–1836, 771:15–802:23). The Project was also impacted and delayed by Library's decision to transform, both structurally and esthetically, the guest rooms on floors 6 through 8 to luxury suites after the start of construction. (R-1271–1272, 237:5–238:8). The issues of the causes and durations of all delays in the completion of the work were disputes and involved separate claims in the litigation.

III. Mechanic's Liens and Pleadings

On January 25, 2019, having not been paid for its work on the Project since 2018, Balfour recorded and served a mechanic's lien against the Hotel property in the amount of \$8,409,658.54. (R-15739).

On March 5, 2019, Balfour commenced this action against Library to foreclose its mechanic's lien. Balfour also asserted other causes of action to recover payment for the work performed on the Project. (R-247). In response, Library filed an Answer and alleged counterclaims against Balfour. (R-274). On May 15, 2019, Library filed an Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint asserting counterclaims against Balfour and third-party claims against certain subcontractors. (R-287).

Between December 28, 2016, and May 2, 2019, several subcontractors recorded their own mechanic's liens against the Hotel property and, thereafter, several subcontractors filed separate actions to foreclose their respective mechanic's liens, and also to allege other causes of action against both Balfour and Library to recover payment for work performed.

On July 23, 2019, Balfour amended and served its statement of mechanic's lien. The amount of the lien increased to \$12,066,147.09. (R-7384, R-7391).

By order dated October 2, 2019, the court authorized Balfour to amend its Complaint to include a cause of action for foreclosure of its amended mechanic's lien.

On November 18, 2019, the circuit court entered an order referring the case to the Charleston County Master-In-Equity, the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough (the “Master”). The circuit court also issued orders consolidating the subcontractors’ actions with Balfour’s suit against Library.

On October 12, 2020, Balfour filed a Second Amended Complaint asserting causes of action against Library, including: (1) breach of contract; (2) quantum meruit; (3) failure to make a reasonable investigation of a claim pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-1-15; (4) indemnity; (5) breach of the implied warranty of sufficiency of the plans and specifications; and (6) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, among others. (R-509).

On October 20, 2020, Library filed an Answer and Counterclaims in response to Balfour’s Second Amended Complaint and asserted counterclaims against Balfour for: (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act; (3) indemnification; (4) declaratory judgment; (5) violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; and (6) civil conspiracy. (R-537).

Prior to, or in the early days of the trial, the Master decided and issued Orders granting the summary judgment motions in favor of subcontractors Strong Tower Corporation, Inc.; Watson Electrical Construction Co., LLC; Low Country Case and Millwork, Inc.; Premier Exteriors, LLC; Cook and Boardman; Quantum Coatings, LLC; Warco Construction, Inc. on their breach of contract causes of action against Balfour. In his Orders granting summary judgment, and awarding damages to those subcontractors, the Master held expressly that the subcontractors performed the work pursuant to their subcontracts, the work was accepted by Balfour and Library, and the subcontractors were entitled to be paid pursuant to their subcontracts. (R-046–47); (R-019–20); (R-095).

The remaining causes of action, counterclaims and defenses in this matter were tried before the Master on non-consecutive days beginning on September 13, 2021, and concluding on December 3, 2021. As of December 3, 2021, both parties rested their cases, and the Trial Record was closed. At the conclusion of the trial, the Master requested Balfour and Library prepare and submit proposed orders. (R-5546–5547).

IV. October 6, 2023 Order

On October 6, 2023, (approximately 22 months after conclusion of the trial) the Master issued his Order and Judgment as follows:

1. Judgment is to be entered in favor of Library Associates, LLC on its breach of contract cause of action against Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC in the amount of **\$3,320,329.00**. This amount is arrived at by adding the liquidated damages sum (\$1,483,090.00) and the cost to complete damages (\$2,256,764.00) for a subtotal of \$3,739,854.00. The contract balance of \$419,425.00 is then subtracted for a setoff to arrive at the judgment amount of \$3,320,329.00.
2. Judgment is to be entered in favor of Library Associates, LLC on breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act cause of action against Balfour Beatty Construction in the amount of **\$3,320,329.00**.
3. A hearing on punitive damages will be set by future Order of this Court.
4. Library Associates, LLC is hereby instructed to submit its attorneys' fees and costs petition as the prevailing party against Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, Lithko Contracting, LLC, Watson Electrical Construction, Co., LLC and Old North State Masonry, LLC under the mechanic's lien statute, S.C. Code Section 29-5-10, et seq., within thirty (30) days of the date of this Order.
5. Library Associates, LLC is further instructed to submit an affidavit of Hadley's costs pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-53-100 within thirty (30) days of this Order. (R-159).

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