RECEIVED
Aug 12 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000788

Case No.: 2019-CP-10-01108

Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Library Associates, LLC; and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, a New York Corporation,
Defendants,

And

Library Associates, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in finding and concluding based upon the evidence submitted that Appellant was not entitled to any further payments from Owner pursuant to the Contract Documents.

The Trial Court had substantial evidence to support that Appellant was not entitled to any additional payments pursuant to the terms of the Contract Documents.

“The elements for breach of contract are the existence of the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach.” *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009).

The only element that was met by the Contractor is the existence of the Contract Documents. Owner was not in breach of the contract as no breach was shown. In fact, Contractor’s representative, David Simonton testified that all certified payment applications were paid. Transcript, p. 4316. (R. p. 1476). The Trial Court also ruled that each and every change order submitted into evidence by the Appellant was unsupported by the facts and the Contract Documents. Finally, as shown above, the Trial Court had substantial evidence that Contractor was unable to support any damages claim.

II. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in finding and concluding based upon the evidence submitted that Appellant breached the Contract Documents which proximately caused Owner \$3,320,329.00 in damages.

“The elements for breach of contract are the existence of the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach.” *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009).

The Owner and Contractor entered into a valid and enforceable contract.

Contractor “accepted the relationship of trust and confidence” and “covenant[ed] with the Owner to cooperate with the Architect and exercise [Contractor’s] skill and judgment in

furthering the interests of the Owner; to furnish efficient construction administration, management services and supervision; to furnish and supply at all times an adequate supply of workers and materials; and to perform the work in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the Owner's interests." Section 1.2 of the AIA-A133 (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was to be "solely responsible for the acts and omissions of its subcontractors." Section 2.1.6 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546) Contractor was to make the Owner an intended third party beneficiary of "all agreements" between Contractor and subcontractors. *Id.* Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor is solely responsible for scheduling, phasing and coordination of the work. Section 2.3.1.4 of the AIA-A133 (R. p. 2546); Section 3.10 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor "shall develop a system of cost control for the Work, including regular monitoring of actual costs for activities in progress and estimates for uncompleted tasks and proposed changes." *Id.* (R. p. 2546) Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to account for back charges to be assessed between its subcontractors for the benefit of the Owner. Section 6.7.3 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to keep "full and detailed accounting records" and to "substantiate all costs incurred." Section 6.11.1 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to submit to an audit of its books and records. Sections 6.11.1 and 7.1.11 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to summarize its cost records and maintain complete “back up documentation.” Section 7.1.4 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to submit a final accounting for the Project. Section 7.2 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to provide all “management staff with whatever additional supervisory personnel are required to ensure that the Work will be completed by the Contractual date of Substantial Completion. Section 3.3.4 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639)

Contractor was required to employ a competent superintendent and necessary assistants. Section 3.9.1 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639).

Contractor was solely responsible for all of the scheduling requirements. Section 3.10.1 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639). Contractor breached these provisions.

Contractor was required to bond-off subcontractor liens. Section 9.3.1.2 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639). Contractor breached this provision.

Contractor was required to promptly and at its own expense correct defective work. Section 12.2.1 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639). Contractor breached this provision.

Section 2.4 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639) states, in pertinent part, that “If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the work in accordance with the Contract Documents” and the Owner provides notice to the Contractor of such failure, Owner may proceed to perform the work itself. Owner put Contractor on notice of the defective work. Defendant’s Exs. 104 and 105. (R. p. 7634, 7640). Owner then performed the work through other contractors. Transcript, pp. 3819-3827. (R. p. 1354-1362). Owner incurred costs performing work or self-performing work that Contractor was contractually required to perform, but Contractor either failed to

perform the work or the work was defective and not in compliance with the Contract Documents. Defendant's Ex. 146B (R. p. 8178); Transcript, p. 3817 (R. p. 1353). This work included warranty work, laundry costs, labor, cleaning fees, repair work, painting work, punch list repair work, fixtures, and pool repairs. Transcript, pp. 3819-3827 (R. p. 1354-1362); Transcript pp. 3247-3255 (R. p. 1338-1346); Transcript, pp. 3267-3272. (R. p. 1347-1352). Defendant's Exhibit 146B (R. p. 8178) contains proper and complete supporting documentation. The total amount of the Owner supplied work is \$2,256,764.00.

There is substantial evidence that Owner was required to perform work that the Contractor failed to perform in the amount of \$2,256,764.00 that was directly and proximately caused by the Contractor.

Additionally, the Contract Documents expressly require what is known as a "Critical Path Method" or "CPM" schedule. Section 3.10.4.2 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639). The Contractor is "solely responsible" for the schedule. Section 3.10.4.7 of the AIA-A201. (R. p. 2639). Contractor must show that any changes "directly" impact the critical path." Section 5.3.1 of the AIA-A133. (R. p. 2546). On this Project, Contractor employed an in-house scheduling manager to create and manage the CPM schedule. Transcript, pp. 384-385 (R. p. 672; Supp. R. p. 434). His name was Joe Lauricella. *Id.* Mr. Lauricella was not presented as a witness by Contractor at the trial of this matter.

Contractor was required to submit an initial schedule that, if followed, would allow Contractor to complete the work by the substantial completion date. Section 3.10.4.1 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639); Transcript pp. 4248-4249 (R. p. 1450-1451). This initial schedule was required to be submitted to the Architect and Owner within fourteen (14) days of the Notice to Proceed. Section 3.10.4.1 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639). This initial CPM schedule is referred

to as an “as-planned schedule.” Transcript, p. 4250 (R. p. 1452). In Contractor’s “as-planned schedule”, however, there was a four (4) month “bust” because it failed to include the activity of the removal of the tower crane that was required to set the pool in place. Transcript pp. 4250-4251 (R. p. 1452-1453); Transcript pp. 2671-2674 (R. p. 1114-1117). This “bust” in the as-planned schedule by Contractor impacted all portions of the Contractor’s updated schedules that were required by Section 3.10.4.5 of the AIA-A201 (R. p. 2639); Transcript, pp. 2673-2674 (R. p. 1116-1117). In fact, it took Contractor nineteen (19) months—over two-thirds of the as planned project duration—before they inserted it into the logic of an updated schedule. *Id.* This practice of changes in the logic of the CPM schedules, removal of restraints and the reduction and increases in durations by the Contractor and without notice to the Owner was systemic on this Project.

In the absence of Lauricella, Contractor offered the testimony of Mark Doran—an outside consultant. Doran testified that the Project was originally scheduled by the Contractor to be completed by July 30, 2017. Transcript, p. 724 (R. p. 724). He further testified that the Project was not complete until December 28, 2021—a difference of 516 days. *Id.* He concluded that of the five hundred and sixteen (516) days of delay to the Project, Owner was responsible for four hundred and ninety four (494) days, neither party was responsible for twenty one (21), days and Contractor was responsible for a single (1) day of delay. Transcript, pp. 808-814 (R. p. 808-814).

In contrast, Owner offered the testimony of Mark Boe. He was qualified as an expert in the field of scheduling, delay claims, and construction claims. Transcript, pp. 2607-2609 (R. p. 1053-1055). Boe gave several opinions. First, he concluded that the “four notebooks” supposedly supporting the Appellant’s claim (Defendants Exs 11, 12, 13, and 14 (R. p. 4966,

5770, 6309, 6849) were essentially useless. Transcript, pp. 2615-2662 (R. p. 1060-1107); Plaintiff's Ex. 261 (R. p. 4391). Second, Boe concluded that Doran used the wrong CPM methodology. Transcript, p. 2665 (R. p. 1108). The methodology utilized by Doran to essentially conclude that the Contractor was not responsible for any delay on this Project failed to meet industry standards for CPM scheduling as recognized in learned treatises. Transcript, pp. 2667-2705 (R. p. 1110-1148); Defendant's Exs. 89-90 (R. p. 7214, 7351). Third, Boe concluded that Doran made a significant error even when employing a rejected methodology. Doran ignored the Contractor's own critical path as identified by the Contractor's own employees and schedulers contemporaneously with the work itself. Transcript, pp. 2666-2669 (R. p. 1109-1112). Doran was forced to ignore or reject the Contractor's actual schedules in order to reach his conclusion. Id. Fourth, Boe concluded that, like Contractor's as-planned schedule, Doran failed to consider the removal of the tower crane in his conclusions of the critical path and delay analysis. Transcript, pp. 2669-2674 (R. p. 1112-1117). This was a significant error because Doran had the tower crane on his critical path. Id. Fifth, Boe concluded that even with Doran's improper methodology he failed to identify any cause and effect for any of his delay claim. Transcript, pp. 2674-2675 (R. p. 1117-1118). Sixth, and finally, Boe concluded that Doran ignored significant delays and manpower problems caused by Contractor's subcontractors. Transcript, pp. 2675-2676; 2716-2768 (R. p. 1118-1119, 1151-1154; Supp. R. pp. 1472-1520); Defendant's Ex. 91 (R. p. 7377); Transcript, pp. 2794-2871 (R. p. 1155-1232).

Owner also offered the testimony of Grady Query. He was qualified as an expert in scheduling, delay claims, and construction claims. Transcript, p. 2949 (R. p. 1286). Query actually dealt with Lauricella during the Project. Transcript, p. 2950 (R. p. 1287). Unlike Doran, Query analyzed Contractor's actual contemporaneous CPM schedules and gave several

opinions. First, the Contractor deleted activities and actual dates from its schedules which hindered the ability to review Contractor's schedules. Transcript pp. 2968-2969 (R. p. 1288-1289). Second, he concluded that the Contractor's schedule "has such significant fatal flaws that it is neither an effective forecasting or coordination tool." Transcript, pp. 2970-2971 (R. p. 1290-1291).

Given the duration of the delay and the cap on liquidated damages, Ms. Hadley calculated to a reasonable certainty the amount of liquidated damages of \$1,483,090.00. Transcript, pp. 4120-4121 (R. p. 1427-1428). There is substantial evidence upon which the Trial Judge based its award on delay damages.

III. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in finding and concluding based upon the evidence submitted that Appellant breached the Contract Documents with fraudulent intent.

The elements of a claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act are "(1) a breach of contract; (2) fraudulent intent relating to the breaching of the contract and not merely to its making; and (3) a fraudulent act accompanying the breach." *Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 465-66, 560 S.E.2d 606, 612 (2002).

Contractor's failure to perform its own accounting and blatant obfuscation of the accounting and audit process constituted not only a breach of the contract but it was accompanied by fraudulent intent. The true purpose of trying to avoid the audit was not for the reasons stated by Contractor in Defendant's Ex. 50 (R. p. 7212), but to avoid for as long as possible the discovery that Contractor's claim was not \$22,452,287.00 or any of the iterations of Contractor's spreadsheets. The actual claim once Ms. Hadley was finally able to perform her work as the ball could no longer be hidden once the trial was over was for \$419,425.00. Transcript, p. 4111 (R. p. 1425); Transcript, pp. 4120-4121 (R. p. 1427-1428). This amount is

prior to the award of any amounts of set off for liquidated damages and other damages proximately caused by the Contractor. In fact, Contractor was owed nothing. Therefore, Contractor breached the Contract Documents and the breach was accompanied by a fraudulent act. The Trial Court expressly asked itself: “What is the legitimate purpose of filing duplicative and excessive liens? What is the legitimate purpose of refusing to do an accounting or allow one’s books and records to be audited?” The Trial Court concluded that there is not one. The only purpose would be to attempt to force an Owner into submission to pay a claim that was not due.

There is substantial evidence to support the Trial Court’s ruling that there was a breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act.

IV. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in its well-reasoned Order to award punitive damages against Appellant for its conduct.

Respondent hereby adopts the Trial Court’s April 12, 2024 well-reasoned order on the award of punitive damages. Further, Appellant presents a straw man argument. In the April 12 Order, the Trial Judge made findings by clear and convincing evidence that punitive damages should be assessed against Appellant. As such, there is no error. There is substantial evidence to support the Trial Court’s ruling that there was a breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and the Trial Court properly awarded punitive damages, pursuant to statutory and common law.

V. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in awarding attorneys’ fees to the Owner as the Owner was the clear prevailing party under the Mechanic’s Lien Statute.

There is no question that Owner was the prevailing party in this action under the Mechanic’s Lien statute. Contractor was awarded nothing on its \$12,066,147.00 excessive and fraudulent lien. In harm to foul, the mechanic’s lien exists to this day. The Owner has been

unable to remove it from its property. The Trial Judge had substantial evidence to award attorneys' fees in the amount of \$2,127,592.00. (R. p. 126)

VI. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case was correct in awarding costs for the only Auditor in this case under the S.C. Declaratory Judgment Act provision S.C. Code Ann. 15-53-100.

Again, the Appellant presents a straw man argument. There is no question that Owner was the prevailing party in this action under the Mechanic's Lien statute AND the S.C. Declaratory Judgment Act-entitling it to expert fees. Moreover, the declaratory judgement cause of action that Appellant argues was "withdrawn" related only to ONE declaratory judgment cause of action (R. p. 1050-1051) that had no relation to the award made by the Trial Judge.

VII. The Court of Appeals should affirm the Orders and Judgment of the Trial Judge in this non-jury matter based upon any evidence appearing in the record pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

There is ample evidence in the record to support the Order, findings and Judgment of the Trial Judge in this action. In fact, much of the evidence is uncontradicted and the Trial Judge sat as the finder of fact. This Court should affirm the Trial Judge based upon any evidence in the Record pursuant to Rule 220(c).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Trial Judge. The Court sat non-jury for over two years. This matter is over. The Appellant is not entitled to any relief they have requested. The Orders and the Judgment of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

BUNDY MCDONALD, LLC